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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

December 27, 1985

CERTIFIED MAIL
RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

George McDonald
211 East B8lst Street
New York, New York 10028

Dear Mr. McDonald:

The Federal Election Commission has reviewed the allegations
of your complaint dated August 12, 1985. On December 3, 1985,
the Commission determined that on the basis of the information
provided in your complaint and information provided by the
Respondent, there is no reason tc believe that a violation of the
Federal Election Campaign Act of 1v71, as amended ("the Act") has
been committed. Accordingly, the Commission decided on that same
date to close the file in this matter. The Federal Election
Campaign Act allows a complainant to seek judicial review of the
Commission's dismissal of this action. See 2 U.S.C.
§ 437g(a) (8).

Enclosed is a copy of the General Counsel's Report on this
matter. Pursuant to 2 U.S.C. § 552b(c) (7) (C), we have deleted
from the Report information from investigatory records compiled
for law enforcement purposes which, if disclosed, would
constitute an unwarranted invasion of personal privacy.

Should additional information come to your attention which
you believe establishes a violation of the Act, you may file a
complaint pursuant to the requirements set forth in 2 U.S.C.
§ 437g(a) (1) and 11 C.F.R. § 111.4.

Sincerely,

Charles N, Steele
General Counsel

BY: enneth A, Gtg/\\

Associate General Counsel

Enclosure
General Counsel's Report




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

December

CERTIFIED MAIL
RETURN RECEIPT REQUESTED

George McDonald
211 East 81st Street
New York, New York 10028

Dear Mr. McDonald:

The Federal Election Commission has reviewed the allegations
of your complaint dated August 12, 1985. On December 3, 1985,
the Commission determined that on the basis of the information
provided in your complaint and information provided by the
Respondent, there is no reason to believe that a violation of the
Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended ("the Act") has
been committed. Accordingly, the Commission decided on that same
date to close the file in this matter. The Federal Election
Campaign Act allows a complainant to seek judicial review of the
Commission's dismissal of this action. See 2 U.S.C.
§ 437g(a) (8).

Enclosed is a copy of the General Counsel's Report on this
matter. Pursuant to 2 U.S.C. § 552b(c) (7) (C), we have deleted
from the Report information from investigatory records compiled
for law enforcement purposes which, if disclosed, would
constitute an unwarranted invasion of personal privacy.

Should additional information come to your attention which
you believe establishes a violation of the Act, you may file a
complaint pursuant to the requirements set forth in 2 U.S.C.
§ 437g(a)(l) and 11 C.F.R. § 111.4.
Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele
General Counsel

(1410

Kenneth A. Gross
Associate General Counsel

Enclosure
General Counsel's Report
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINCTON, D.C. 20463

December 18, 1985

Mr. Thomas J. Schwarsz

Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom
919 Third Avenue

New York, New York 10022-9931

Re: MUR 2070
Stein for Congress Committee

Dear Mr. Schwarz:

On August 22, 1985, the Commission notified yodr client of a
complaint alleging violations of certain sections of the Pederal
Blection Campaign Act of 1971, as amended.

The Commission, on December 3 , 1985, determined that on
the basis of the information in the complaint, and information
provided by you, there is no reason to believe that a violation
of any statute within its jurisdiction has been committed.
Accordingly, the Commission closed its file in this matter. This
matter will become a part of the public record within 30 days.

Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele

Byf{ Kenneth A.
Associate neral Counsel

Enclosure
General Counsel's Report




BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Stein for Congress Committee,
Joanne Jarett, as treasurer,

Andrew Stein

Lynn Stein

MUR 2070

CERTIFICATION

I, Marjorie W. Emmons, recording secretary for the
Federal Election Commission executive session of
December 3, 1985, do hereby certify that the Commission
decided by a vote of 5-1 to take the following actions
in MUR 2070:

1. Find no reason to believe Andrew Stein,

Lynn Stein or the Stein for Congress
Committee and Joanne Jarett, as treasurer,
violated any provisions of the FECA as
amended.

Close the file.

Send the letters attached to the General
Counsel's report dated November 14, 1985.

Commissioners Aikens, Elliott, Josefiak, McDonald,
and McGarry voted affirmatively for the decision.

Commissioner Harris dissented.

Attest:

L2-H~-F 5

Date Marjorie W. Emmons
Secretary of the Commission
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINCTON. D C. 20463

MEMORANDUM TO: CHARLES STEELE, GENERAL COUNSEL

/
FROM: MARJORIE W. EMMONS/ (upevr a  premmne e .

DATE: NOVEMBER 20, 1985

SUBJECT: OBJECTION - MUR 2070- General Counsel's Report

The above-named document was circulated to the

Commission on Tuesday, November 18, 1985, 11:00.

Objections have been received from the Commissioners

as indicated by the name(s) checked:

Commissioner Aikens

Commissioner Elliott

Commissioner Harris

Commissioner Josefiak

Commissioner McDonald

Commissioner McGarry

This matter will be placed on the Executive Session

agenda for Tuesday, December 3, 1985.




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WANHINGTON D C 204613

MEMORANDUM TO: CHARLES N. STEELE
GENEKAL COUNSEL

FROM: MARJORIE W. EMMONS/ CHERYL A. FLEMING ‘;57/6)7

DATE: NOVEMBER 20, 1985

SUBJECT: OBJECTION TO MUR 2070 - General Counsels' Report

Attached is a copy of Commissioner 's Harris

vote sheet with comments regarding the above-captioned matter.

Attachment:
copy of vote




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D C. 20463

MEMORANDUM

TO: Office of the Commission Secretary

FROM: Office of General Counselﬂui

BATE _November 15, 1985
SUBJECT: MUR 2070 - General Counsel's Report

The attached is submitted as an Agenda document

for the Commission Meeting of

Open Session

Closed Session

CIRCULATIONS DISTRIBUTION

48 Hour Tally Vote Compliance
Sensitive
Non-Sensitive Audit Matters

24 Hour No Objection Litigation
Sensitive
Non-Sensitive Closed MUR Letters

Information Status Sheets
Sensitive
Non-Sensitive Advisory Opinions

Other (see distribution
Other below)
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of )

)

Stein for Congress Committee, ) MUR 2070
Joanne Jarett, as treasurer,)
Andrew Stein, and Lynn Stein)

GENERAL COUNSEL'S REPORT

) i BACKGROUND
In 1984, Andrew Stein was a candidate for Representative of

the 18th District of New York. Over the course of his campaign,

Mr. Stein lent $891,873.43:/ to his principal campaign committee,

Stein for Congress. The complainant, George McDonald, alleges
that the amount of these loans is in disproportion to Mr.
Stein's personal assets as determined by an examination of his
1983 Federal Income Tax Return, 1983 and 1984 City of New York
Report of Financial Interests and 1984 Federal Ethics in
Government Act-Financial Disclosure Statement. The complainant
states that the 1984 City Disclosure Form indicates that Mr.
Stein had only $107,077 in assets that he owned exclusively.
‘According to the complainant, Mr. Stein owns his other assets
jointly with his wife Lynn. Based on information in the 1983
Federal Income Tax Return, the complainant maintains that the
Steins did not have either interest or accounts which could
produce $800,000 in income during 1984. He alleges that at least

part of the money which Mr. Stein lent to his committee belonged

e The complaint alleges Mr. Stein lent $836,873.43 to his
committee. According to the most recent report filed by the
campaign committee, the July 31 Mid Year Report filed on July 28,
1985, Mr. Stein lent the committee an additional $55,000 ($40,000
on 3/12/85 and $15,000 on 4/28/85), bringing the total to
$891.873.43.
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to Mr. Stein's wife and constitutes an excessive contribution
from Mrs. Stein which the Committee accepted in violation of
2 U.S.C. § 441a(a) (1) (A) and 11 C.F.R. § 110.1(a) (1).
In addition, the complainant alleges that Mr. Stein received
income that he did not report on his tax forms, City Disclosure
Forms or FEC disclosure forms and used this income to lend to his

committee. One possible source of the funds, according to the

complainant, is a bank loan to the candidate and his wife.

Manufacturers Hanover Trust lent Mr. and Mrs. Stein an amount
between $100,000 and $500,000 on October 18, 1984.

On October 18, 1984, Mr. Stein lent his committee $250,000,
and made additional loans of $125,000 and $24,000 two weeks
later. If the money lent by the candidate to the committee was
obtained through a bank loan, then, the complainant asserts, the
committee would have violated 2 U.S.C. § 434(b) (1) (G) by not
reporting the original source of the money.

II. LEGAL ANALYSIS

11 C.F.R. 110.10(a) states that, except as provided in
11 C.F.R. Parts 9001, et seq. and 9031, et seq., Federal
candidates may make unlimited expenditures to their campaigns
from personal funds. Personal assets include assets which the
candidate had legal access to or control over at the time he or
she became a candidate and which the candidate had either legal
and rightful title to or an equitable interest in. 11 C.F.R.

110.10(b) (1). In addition, employment salaries, dividends and
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proceeds from the sale of the candidate's stocks or other
investments are within the definition of personal funds.
11 C.F.R. 110.10(b) (2).

Respondents have submitted the affidavit of Arthur Tarlow,
Mr. Stein's accountant. Mr. Tarlow states that Mr. Stein had
several assets from which he was able to lend money to his
campaign committee. Pirst, Mr. Stein had several sources of

investment funds.

Second, Mr. Stein sold securities in 1984

Finally, in 1984, Mr. Stein also received a loan repayment
, a net salary and
interest and dividends on securities owned by him or for his

equitable account and federal and state tax refunds

Counsel for Respondents state that "the securities that
originally funded the brokerage accounts were equitably those of

Andrew Stein and were never conveyed to Lynn Stein."
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on Pebruary 14, 1984, Mr. Stein signed a Statement of

Candidacy which the Commission received on February 17, 1984.

Section 432(e) (1) requires a candidate to designate an authorized
committee within 15 days of becoming a candidate. Because Mr.
Stein 4id not make such a designation until 1984, it appears he
was not a candidate until 1984. Therefore, the 1981 holding
company assets, the profit from the investment of the holding
company proceeds, and the 1982 cooperative apartment proceeds all
were assets to which Mr. Stein had access before he became a
candidate in 1984. The affidavit does not state that any part of
any of the assets belonged to Lynn Stein, Andrew Stein's wife.
These assets, therefore, fall within the definition of personal

assets set out in 11 C.F.R. 110.10(b) (1)

The other assets Mr. Stein had access to in 1984 also fall
within the definition of personal assets. Mr. Stein sold some of
his securities He received a net
employment salary for 1984 Also, he received
gsecurities dividends and interest, and tax refunds totaling

» and a loan repayment of including interest.

+ Mr. Stein's available
assets total . Mr. Stein lent his campaign committee
$891,873.43. From the information supplied by Mr. Stein’'s
accountant, it appears that Mr. Stein had enough of his own

assets to have lent his committee $891,873.43. Therefore, there
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is no reason to believe Andrew Stein used assets belonging to his
wife to lend to this committee, nor is there reason to believe
Lynn Stein made an excessive contribution to the committee by
allowing her husband to use her assets to lend money to the
committee. Also, there is no reason to believe the committee
violated any provisions of the Act by accepting an excessive
contribution.
III. RECOMMENDATIONS
1. Find no reason to believe Andrew Stein, Lynn Stein or the
Stein for Congress Committee and Joanne Jarett, as
treasurer, violated any provisions of the FECA as amended.
Close the file.
Send the attached letters.

Charles N. Steele
General Counsel

=

%‘A&wt)ﬂ /2,/9“/ BY:

Date Kenneth A. Gross
Associate General Counsel

Attachments
Letter from Respondents' Counsel
Letter to Respondents' Counsel
Letter to Complainant
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SKADDEN, ARPS, SLATE, MEAGHER & FLOM

019 THIRD AVENUE
NEW YORK 10082-003!

B 738-3000

v"("l;/ Lo oA

October 7, 19088

Michelle Brown, Esq.
Federal Blection Commission
Washington, D.C. 20463

RE: MUR 2070

Dear Ms. Brown:

Pursuant to my conversation with Ken Gross .., '
I am hereby filing a telecopied copy of the response
to the complaint in the above MUR. I will file the
original documents with you tomorrow. 8ince the infor-
mation contains personal financial information of Mr.
Stein, it is heredy requested that such information be
treated in a confidential manner and excerpted from the
publi: file in connection with this matter when it is
closed.

If you have any questions, please call nme.

A

4homa‘)// . 8Schwa




BETORE THE FEDIRAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

In the Matter of

Andrev Stein,

Lynn Stein,

stein for Congress Committee

RESPONSE OF ANDREW STEIN, LYNN STEIN AND
STEIN FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE TO
NOTIFICATION OF COMPLAINT

I. INTRODUCTION

This Response to Notification of Complaint is
filed by Andrew Stein, Lynn Stein and Stein for Congress
Committee (the 'COMmtttoi") in response to the notifica-
tion by the Federal Election Commission (the "Commis-
sion") of the complaint (the "Complaint") filed by George
McDonald. Andrew Stein, Lynn Stein and the Committee are
referred to herein collectively as "Respondents". Re-
spondents submit that the Complaint fails to state any
grounds for further action by the Commission and respect-
fully request that the COmmiuaionbtind no reason to be-
lieve that a violation of the Federal Election Campaign
Act of 1971, as amended (the "Campaign Act"), or the
Regulations of the Commission promulgated thereunder (the

"Regulations"), has occurred. Accordingly, Respondents




request that the Commission determine to take no further
action against Respondents in this matter.

11. SUMMARY OF POSITION
The $836,873.43 lent by Andrew Stein to the

Committee (the "Loans") was properly reported in the
periodic £ilings made by the Committee with the Commis-
sion under the Campaign Act. As demonstrated in the
accompanying affidavit of Arthur Tarlow, the allegations
in the Complaint that the Loans were made in amounts
greater than the personal liquid assets available to
Andrevw Stein under the Campaign Act are baseless and
wholly without merit. The total amount of the Loans was
derived, directly or indirectly, from Andrevw Stein's
"personal funds" as such term is defined in Sece

tion 110.10 of the Regulations, 11 C.F.R. § 110.10.

Those personal funds included funds derived from the sale
of securities as to which Andrew Stein was the beneficial
and egquitable owner, salary, interest and dividend in-
come, tax refunds and proceeds from the repayment of
loans owed to Andrew Stein by a previous campaign commit-
tee. Of course, Mr. Stein was also entitled to borrow
money from a bank in the ordinary course in his own name
and contribute the proceeds of any such loan to his Com-

mittee.




111. DRISCUBSION
The accompanying Affidavit of Arthur Tarlow

(Exhibit A hereto) thoroughly sets forth the amounts and
sources of personal funds available to Andrev Stein dur-
ing the period in Question. That analysis clearly indi-
cates that personal funds in appropriate amounts were
available to Andrew Stein throughout the period. PRur-
thermore, the securities that originally funded the bro-
kerage accounts were equitably those of Andrew 8tein and
were never conveyed to Lynn Stein.

The fact that money was borrowed from Manufac-
turers Hanover Trust Company and Bank Leumi Trust Company
and subsequently additional amounts loaned to the Commit~
tee is not determinative of whether Andrew Stein had
personal funds sufficient to make such loans. As set
forth in the Tarlow affidvit, Mr. Stein had sufficient
funds to make the loans to the Committee. This is not a
situation vhere the candidate did not have sufficient
assets of his own during the campaign to make a loan to
his Committee. Compare MUR 892 and MUR 1890. 1If a can-
didate and his wife determine to use the candidate's
assets for the campaign while the wife supports the fam-
ily, the Commission can not £ind that to be a violation

of the Act or Regulations. Otherwise, every candidate
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who spent personal funds would violate the law if the
spouse spent her own money to support the family during

campaign. Obviously, that could not have been the
intended effect of the law or the Regulations.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Respondents re-
spectfully submit that no further action should be taken
against them by the Commission in connection with this
matter and reguest that the Commission f£ind no reason to
believe that a violation of the Act or the Regulations

has occurred.

Respectfully submitted,

a2

N Kb».@%zf_/

Alan G. Straus

Skadden, Arps, Slate,
Meagher & Flom

Attorneys for Respondents

919 Third Avenue

New York, New York 10022

Dated: October 7, 1985




BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

In the Matter of )
Andrevw Stein, )
Lynn Stein, ) MUR 2070
Stein for Congress Committee )
AFFIDAVIT

STATE OF NEW YORK )
COUNTY OF NEW YORK )

ARTHUR TARLOW, being duly sworn, deposes and says:

1. I am the accountant for Andrew Stein and am famil-
iar with Mr. Stein's financial affairs. I am a certified public
accountant. ! have been responsible for preparation of Mr.
Stein's Federal Election Commission, New York State Board of
Elections and New York City filings.

2. Mr. Stein was the nominee of the Democratic Party
for the House of Representatives from the 15th District of New
York, for the general election held on November 6, 1984. His
campaign was conducted through Stein for Congress Committee (the
"Committee"), which was the "principal committee" under the
Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the "Act").

3. In the course of the campaign, Mr. Stein made
loans to the Committee aggregating $836,873.43 in principal




(c) He also received the following amounts in

(1) from the repayment to him of
loans, together with interest,
from Stein 'S . . . . . .8

(14) from his salary for services
as Manhattan Borough President,
net of withheld taxes. . .§
(§44) from interest and dividends
relating to securities owned
by him or for his equitadble
account and federal and state
SARTCEGLUNARN 1% el
8. The amount of personal funds available to Mr.
Stein during 1984 was significantly greater than the principal
amount of loans made by him to the Committee, $836,873.43 and

far greater than any amounts borrowed from banks.

Dated: Octeber 7, 1985
érth&r Tarfov X

swrrk to before me this
2 TR day of October, 1985

-

RU?H A. MilidACH
b'oc Duu of Now York

FJH&Lg:&wMuuunhn S her




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

Mr. Thomas J. Schwarz

Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom
919 Third Avenue

New York, New York 10022-9931

Re: MUR 2070
Stein for Congress Committee

Dear Mr. Schwarz:

On August 22, 1985, the Commission notified your client of a
complaint alleging violations of certain sections of the Federal
Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended.

The Commission, on » 1985, determined that on
the basis of the information in the complaint, and information
provided by you, there is no reason to believe that a violation
of any statute within its jurisdiction has been committed.
Accordingly, the Commission closed its file in this matter. This
matter will become a part of the public record within 30 days.

Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele
General Counsel

By: Kenneth A. Gross
Associate General Counsel

Enclosure
General Counsel's Report




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON. D C. 20463

George McDonald
211 East 8lst Street
New York, New York 10028

Re: MUR 2070

Dear Mr. McDonald:

The Federal Election Commission has reviewed the allegations
of your complaint dated August 12, 1985, and determined that on
the basis of the information provided in your complaint and
information provided by the Respondent, there is no reason to
believe that a violation of the Federal Election Campaign Act of
1971, as amended ("the Act") has been committed. Accordingly,
the Commission has decided to close the file in this matter. The
Federal Election Campaign Act allows a complainant to seek
judicial review of the Commission's dismissal of this action.

See 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a) (8).

Should additional information come to your attention which
you believe establishes a violation of the Act, you may file a
complaint pursuant to the requirements set forth in 2 U.S.C.
§ 437g(a) (1) and 11 C.F.R. § 111.4.

Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele
General Counsel

Kenneth A. Gross
Associate General Counsel

Enclosure
General Counsel's Report
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October 7, 1988

Michelle Brown, Esq.
Federal Election Commission

t
Washington, D.C. 20463 L

=
=
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o =
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RE: MUR 2070
Dear Ms. Brown: {7

Pursuant to my conversation with Ken Gross..,
I am heredby filing a telecopied copy of the response

to the complaint in the above MUR. I will file the
original documents with you tomorrow. 8ince the infor-
mation contains personal financial information of Mr.
Stein, it is hereby requested that such information be
treated in a confidential manner and excerpted from the
pgbli: file in connection with this matter when it is
closed.

If you have any questions, please call ne.

C/‘E%‘nl’ 1520
7 e

4homaé AJ. Schwa




SETORE THE FEDEIRAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINCGTON, D.C. 20463

In the Matter of

Andrev Stein,

Lynn Stein,

stein for Congress Committee

RESPONSE OF ANDREW STEIN, LYNN STEIN AND
STEIN FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE TO
NOTIFICATION OF COMPLAINT

I. INTRODUCTION

This Response to Notification of Complaint is
filed by Andrew Stein, Lynn Stein and Stein for Congress
Committee (the "Committee") in response to the notifica-
tion by the Federal Election Commission (the "Commis-
sion") of the complaint (the "Complaint") filed by Ceorge
McDonald. Andrew Stein, Lynn Stein and the Committee are
referred to herein collectively as "Respondents". Re-
spondents submit that the Complaint fails to state any
grounds for further action by the Commission and respect-
fully request that the Commission find no reason to be-
lieve that a violation of the Federal Election Campaign
Act of 1971, as amended (the "Campaign Act"), or the
Regulations of the Commission promulgated thereunder (the

"Regulations"), has occurred. Accordingly, Reapondents




request that the Commission determine to take no further

action against Respondents in this matter.

1. Y O JON
The $836,873.43 lent by Andrew Stein to the

Committee (the "Loans") was properly reported in the
periodic £ilings made by the Committee with the Commis-
sion under the Campaign Act. As demonstrated in the
accompanying affidavit of Arthur Tarlow, the allegations
in the Complaint that the Loans were made in amounts
greater than the personal liquid assets available to
Andrevw Stein under the Campaign Act are baseless and
wholly without merit. The total amount of the Loans was
derived, directly or indirectly, from Andrew Stein's
"personal funds" as such term is defined in Sec-

tion 110.10 of the Regulations, 11 C.F.R. § 110.10.

Those personal funds included funds derived from the sale
of securities as to which Andrew Stein was the beneficial
and equitable owner, salary, interest and dividend in-
come, tax refunds and proceeds from the repayment of
loans owved to Andrew Stein by a previous campaign commit-
tee. Of course, Mr. Stein was also entitled to borrow
money from a bank in the ordinary course in his own name
and contribute the proceeds of any such loan to his Com-

mittee.




111. RISCUSSION
The accompanying Affidavit of Arthur Tarlow

(Exhibit A hereto) thoroughly sets forth the amounts and
sources of personal funds available to Andrevw Stein dur-
ing the period in Question. That analysis clearly indi-
cates that personal funds in appropriate amounts were
available to Andrew Stein throughout the period. Pur-
thermore, the securities that originally funded the bro-
kerage accounts were equitably those of Andrew Stein and
were never conveyed to Lynn Stein.

The fact that money was borrowed from Manuface
turers Hanover Trust Company and Bank Leumi Trust Company
and subsequently additional amounts loaned to the Commit-
tee is not determinative of whether Andrew Stein had
personal funds sufficient to make such loans. As set
forth in the Tarlow affidvit, Mr. Stein had sufficient
funds to make the loans to the Committee. Thia is not a
situation vhere the candidate did not have sufficient
assets of his own during the campaign to make a loan to
his Committee. Compare MUR 892 and MUR 1890. 1If a can-
didate and his wife determine to use the candidate's
assets for the campaign while the wife supports the fam-
ily, the Commission can not f£ind that to be a violation

of the Act or Regulations. Othorwino.‘cvorg candidate




who spent personal funds would violate the lawv if the
spouse spent her own money to support the family during
the campaign. Obviously, that could not have been the
intended effect of the law or the Regulations.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Respondents re-
spectfully submit that no further action should be taken
against them by the Commission in connection with this

matter and reguest that the Commission f£ind no reason to

r believe that a violation of the Act or the Regulations
4 has occurred.
%)

Y Respectfully submitted,

Alan G. Straus

%

Skadden, Arps, Slate,
Meagher & Flom

Attorneys for Respondents

919 Third Avenue

New York, New York 10022

Dated: October 7, 1985




BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

in the Matter of

Andrevw Stein,

Lynn Stein,

Stein for Congress Committee

AFFIDAVIT
STATE OF NEW YORK

COUNTY OF NEW YORK

)
H 88.:
)

ARTHUR TARLOW, being duly sworn, deposes and says:

1. I am the accountant for Andrew Stein and am famil-
iar with Mr. Stein's financial affairs. ! am a certified public
accountant. I have been responsible for preparation of Mr.
Stein's Federal Election Commission, New York State Board of
Elections and New York City filings.

2. Mr. Stein was the nominee of the Democratic Party
for the House of Representatives from the 15th District of New
York, for the general election held on November 6, 1984. His
campaign was conducted through Stein for Congress Committee (the
"Committee"), which was the "principal committee” under the
Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (the "Act").

3. In the course of the campaign, Mr. Stein made

loans to the Committee aggregating $836,873.43 in principal




(c) He also received the following amounts in

(1) from the repayment to him of
loans, together with interest,
from Stein '8 . . . . . .§

(44) from hia salary for services
as Manhattan Borough President,
net 6f withheld taxes. . .§
(444) from interest and dividends
relating to securitiea owned
by him or for his eQquitadble
account and federal and state
tax refunds. . . . . . . .8
$. The amount of personal funds available to Mr.
Stein during 1984 was significantly greater than the principal
amount of loans made by him to the Committee, $836,873.43 and

far greater than any amounts borrowed from banks.

érth%r Iatfow <

Dated: Octeber 7, 1985

s\mrr’\ to before me this
7 A day of October, 1985

-

- ~
Notary ggzgic !

RUTH A. MilidACH
Natsry Pubiic, Siate of New York

i# No‘in“m.
"m‘u Explres M.m ("1}




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON,D.C. 20463

MEMORANDUM TO: CHARLES N. STEELE
GENERAL COUNSEL

FROM: MARJORIE W. EMMONS/JODY C. RANSOM 93«/(’

DATE: SEPTEMBER 24, 1985

SUBJECT: MUR 2070 - First General Counsel's
Report signed September 19, 1985

The above-captioned matter was circulated to the
Commission on a 24 hour no-objection basis at 4:00,
September 23, 1985.

There were no objections to the First General Counsel's

Report at the time of the deadline.




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

MEMORANDUM

TO: Office of the Commission Secretary

FROM: Office of General Counsel R’YB

DATE: September 20, 1985

- i (]
SUBJECT: MUR 2070 First General Counsel's Report

The attached is submitted as an Agenda document

for the Commission Meeting of

Open Session

Closed Session

CIRCULATIONS DISTRIBUTION

48 Hour Tally Vote Compliance
Sensitive
Non-Sensitive Audit Matters

24 Hour No Objection Litigation
Sensitive
Non-Sensitive Closed MUR Letters

Information Status Sheets
Sensitive
Non-Sensitive Advisory Opinions

Other (see distribution
Other below)
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION Cof;:i;é" A e FDc
1325 K Street, N.W. MIC oy ‘x‘-:"f7';‘ﬁgﬂk‘
Washington, D.C. 20463 HEUARY

FIROT I GERRRAT) COMRSEL 2 RErONT L0 SEP DY Pds gy

DATE AND TIME OF TRANSMITTAL MUR # 2070

BY OGC TO THE COMMISSION 9-20-85 3:30pm DATE COMPLAINT RECEIVED
BY OGC 8/13/85
DATE OF NOTIFICATION TO
RESPONDENT 8/22/85
STAFF MEMBER M. Brown

Complainant's Name: George McDonald

Respondents' Names: Andrew Stein, Lynn Stein, Stein for
Congress Committee, Joanne Jarett,
as treasurer

Relevant Statutes: 2 U.S.C. §§ 441a(a) (1) (A),
434 (b) (1) (G) and 434 (b) (3) (E);
11 C.F.R. 100.7(a) (1) (i) (D),
110.1(a) (1), 110.10(b) (3), 104.3(a) (3)
(vii) (A) and (B)
Internal Reports Checked: 1984 and 1985 Disclosure Reports filed
by Stein for Congress Committee

Federal Agencies Checked: None

Summary of Allegations

In 1984, Andrew Stein was a candidate for Representative of
the 18th District of New York. Over the course of his campaign,
Mr. Stein lent $891,873.43* to his principal campaign committee,
Stein for Congress. The complainant, George McDonald, alleges
that the amount of these loans is in disproportion to Mr. Stein's
personal assets as determined by an examination of his 1983

Federal Income Tax Return, 1983 and 1984 City of New York Report

*/ The complaint alleges Mr. Stein lent $836,873.43 to his
committee. According to the most recent report filed by the
campaign committee, the July 31 Mid Year Report filed on July 28,
1985, Mr. Stein lent the committee an additional $55,000 ($40,000
on 3/12/85 and $15,000 on 4/28/85), bringing the total to
$891.873.43.




-2
of Financial Interests and 1984 Federal Ethics in Government Act-
Financial Disclosure Statement. The complainant states that the
1984 City Disclosure Form indicates that Mr. Stein had only
$107,077 in assets that he owned exclusively. According to the
complainant, Mr. Stein owns his other assets jointly with his
wife Lynn. Based on information in the 1983 Federal Income Tax
Return, the complainant maintains that the Steins did not have
either interest or accounts which could produce $800,000 in
income during 1984. He alleges that at least part of the money
which Mr. Stein lent to his committee belonged to Mr. Stein's
wife and constituted an excessive contribution from Mrs. Stein
which the Committee accepted in violation of 2 U.S.C. §
44la(a) (1) (A) and 11 C.F.R. 110.1(a)(1).

In addition, the complainant alleges that Mr. Stein received
income that he did not report on his tax forms, City Disclosure
Forms or FEC disclosure forms and used this income to lend to his
committee. One possible source of the funds, according to the
complainant, is a bank loan to the candidate and his wife.
Manufacturers Hanover Trust lent Mr. and Mrs. Stein an amount
between $100,000 and $500,000 on October 18, 1984.

On October 18, 1984, Mr. Stein lent his committee $250,000,
and made additional loans of $125,000 and $24,000 two weeks
later. If the money lent by the candidate to the committee was
obtained through a bank loan, then, the complainant asserts, the
committee would have violated 2 U. .C. § 434(b) (1) (G) by not

reporting the original source of the money.




ST

The Office of General Counsel notified the respondents of
the complaint on August 22, 1985. On August 28th, counsel whom
respondents designated, requested an extension of 30 days to
respond "because of the technical nature of the allegations in
the complaint and the pendency of the New York primary in which
Mr. Stein is a candidate." The Office of General Counsel granted
a 20 day extension until October 3rd and so notified counsel.

When the Office of General Counsel receives the response it

will make a report to the Commission including recommendations.

Charles N. Steele
General unsel

Kenneth A. Gross
Associate GeneraY Counsel
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

Septerber 6, 1985

Thomas J. Schwarz

Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom
919 Third Avenue

New York, New York 10022-9931

RE: MUR 2070

Andrew Stein, Lynn

Stein, Stein for Congress
Committee

Dear Mr. Schwarz:

This is in reference to your letter dated August 28, 1985,
requesting an extension of 30 days to respond to the Commission's
notification of receipt of a complaint against your clients.

Considering the Commission's responsibilities under 2 U.S.C.
§ 437g(a) (8) (A) to act expeditiously on complaints and the ,
circumstances of this matter, your request for an extension will
be granted only until October 3, 1985.

If you have any questions, please contact Michele Brown, the
staff member handling this matter, at (202)523-4143.

Sincerely,

Assoc1ate Ge eral Counsel




. ® <ECEIVED A1 THE FEC

GEcR gL ds
SKADDEN, ARPS, SLATE, MEAGHER & FLOA‘SSEP:D' ’lz 08

819 THIRD AVENUE
NEW YORK 10022-993I

CABLE ADDRESS - 1::1 BEACON smn“m
"SKARSLAW NEW YORK" (212) 738-3000 ) MASSACHUSETTS
TWX: 710 S81-3814 (6i7) 523-0002
TELEX: 648899 919 TIONTEENTH STAEET, N.W.

TELECOPIER:
(212) 752-10084

DIRECT DIAL
(212) 738 -

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20008
(202) 483-8700
ONE RODNEY SQUARE
WILMINGTON, DELAWARE (980!
(302) 429-9200
8I3 SOUTH FIGUEROA STREET
LOS ANGELES, CALIFORNIA S007
(213) 486-4600
333 WEST WACKER DRIVE
CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 80608
(312) 407-0700

August 28, 1985

g

Kenneth A. Gross, Esq.
Associate General Counsel
Federal Election Commission
Washington, D.C. 20463

Re: MUR 2070

6v Faas
] i

Dear Mr. Gross:

&,
=

Enclosed please find a Statement of Designa-
tion of Counsel in the above matter. Because of the
technical nature of the allegations in the complaint
and the pendency of the New York City primary in which
Mr. Stein is a candidate, I request a 30-day extension
of time in which to file a response.

Please advise me as to whether such extension
is acceptable.

Very truly yours,
%

homas Schwarz
Enclosure




§mgmu-r OF DESIGNATION OF coﬁsm.

MUR  2070.

NAME OF COUNSEL: Thomas J. Schwarz, Esq.

ADDRESS : 919 Third Avenue

New York, New York 10022

TELEPHONE: (212) 735-3400

The above-named individual is hereby designated as my
counsel and is authorized to receive any notifications and other
communications from the Commission and to act on my behalf before .
the Commission. @ .
August 28, 1985 \S_%:

Date Signature

RESPONDENT'S NAME:

ADDRESS: 2050 Municipal Building

1 Centre Street

New York, New York 10007

HOME PHONE:

BUSINESS PHONE: (212) 566-4429




SKADDEN, ARPS SLATE. MEAGHER & FLOM
919 THIRD AVENUE
NEW YORK (10022 -993!

Kenn=~th A. Gross. Esq.

Associate Gereral Counsel
Federal Election Commission
Washington, D.C. 20463




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINCTON D¢ l0db3

September 26, 1985

George McDonald
211 East 8lst Street
New York, New York 10028

Dear Mr. McDonald:

This is in response to your telephone call of September 23,
1985, in which you requested information pertaining to the
complaint you filed with the Commission.

The Federal Election Campaign Act prohibits any person from
making public the fact of any notification or investigation by
the Commission unless the party being investigated has agreed in
writing that the matter be made public. (See 2 U.S.C. §
437g(a) (4) (B) and § 437g(a) (12) (a)) Because there has been no
written agreement that the matter be made public, we are not in a
position to release any information at this time.

As you were informed by letter of August 21, 1985, (copy
attached) we will notify you as soon as the Commission takes
final action on your complaint.

Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele
General Counsel

QO

Enclosure




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINGTON. D C 20463

George McDonald
21]1 East 8lst Street
New York, New York 10028

Dear Mr. McDonald:

This is in response to your telephone call of September 23,
1985, in which you requested information pertaining to the
complaint you filed with the Commission.

The Federal Election Campaign Act prohibits any person from
making public the fact of any notification or investigation by
the Commission unless the party being investigated has agreed in
writing that the matter be made public. (See 2 U.S.C. §
437g(a) (4) (B) and § 437g(a) (12) (a)) Because there has been no
written agreement that the matter be made public, we are not in a
position to release any information at this time.

As you were informed by letter of August 21, 1985, (copy
attached) we will notify you as soon as the Commission takes
final action on your complaint.

Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele
General Counsel

Kenneth A. Gross
Associate General Counsel

Enclosure




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

August 21, 1985

George McDonald
211 East 8ist Street
New York, NY 10028

Dear Mr. McDonald:

This letter is to acknowledge receipt of your complaint
which we received on August 13, 1985, against the Stein for
Conpress Committee, which alleges violations of the Federal
Election Campaign laws. A staff member has been assigned to
analyze your allegations. The respondent will be notified of
this complaint within five days.

You will be notified as soon as the Commission takes
finalaction on your complaint. Should you receive any addi-
tional information in this matter, please forward it to this
office. We sugpest that this information be sworn to in the
same manner as your original complaint. For your information,
we have attached a brief description of the Commission's pro-
cedure for handling complaints. We have numbered this matter
under review MUR 2070. Please refer to this number in all fu-
ture correspondence. If you have any questions, please con-
tact Stuart C. Mc Hardy at (202)523-4@7S5.

Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele

Enclosure
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

WASHINCTON, D.C 20463 .

August 21, 1985

George McDonald
211 East 81ist Street
New York, NY 10@28

Dear Mr. McDonald:

This letter is to acknowledge receipt of- your complaint
which we received on August 13, 1985, against the Stein for
Conpress Committee, which alleges violations of the Federal
Election Campaion laws. R staff member has been assigned to
analyze your allegations. The respondent will be notified of
this complaint within five days.

You will be notified as soon as the Commission takes
finalaction on your complaint. Should you receive any addi-
tional information in this matter, please forward it to this
office. We sugpest that this information be sworn to in the
same manner as your original complaint. For your information,
we have attached a brief description of the Commission's pro-
cedure for handling complaints. We have numbered this matter
under review MUR 2078. Please refer to this number in all fu-
ture correspondence. If you have any questions, please con-
tact Stuart C. Mc Hardy at (202)523-4@7S.

Sincerely,

Charles N. Steele

Enclosure
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GEORGE NCDOWALD
211 Bast 81st Street
New York, New York 16028

August 12, 1985

The Pederal Election Commission
1325 K Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20463

Ladies and Gentlemen:

This letter is a formal complaint under Part III of the
Federal Election Commission Regulations and a request for inves-
tigations into the campaign financing of "Stein for Congress",
the principal campaign committee of Andrew Stein for the 1984
15th Congressional District of New York election. I am requesting
an investigation as to possible violations of the $1,000.00 con-
tribution ceiling imposed on all Federal campaigns during 1984.
In addition, I am also requesting that an investigation be made
of the tremendous amount of loans by Andrew Stein to "Stein for
Congress.” This total of $836,873.43 is in obvious disproportion
to Mr. Stein's personal assets as illustrated by cross-referencing
Mr. Stein's 1983 Federal Income Tax Return (Exhibit A) with his
1983 and 1984 City of New York Report of Financial Interests
(hereinafter City Disclosure forms) (Exhibits B & C, respectively)
and his 1984 Federal Ethics in Goverment Act-Financial Disclosure
Statement (hereinafter Federal Disclosure Form). (Exhibit D).

Under Section 441A(l1l) of Title 2, Unjted States Code
(Disclosure of Federal Campaign Funds):

“No person shall make
contributions-

(A) to any candidate and his authorized political committees
with respect to any election for Federal Office which,
in the aggregate, exceed $1,000.00."




" The Federal Election Commission
August 12, 1985
Page Two

A contribution is further defined in Title 2 Upnjited
States Code Section 431(8)(A)(i) as "any gift, subscription,
loan, advance, or deposit or anything of value made by any person
for the purpose of influencing any election for Federal Office,"...

Pursuant to these sections, there is conspicuously no ex-
ception or raised limitation allowed for families of the candidate.
Purthermore, case law has held that members of a candidate's family
are not excluded from the dictates of the above section. (Byckley
¥, Valeo, 424 U.8. 1 (1976).

According to the Federal Report of Receipts and Disburse-
ments dated January 28, 1985, Andrew Stein lent $836,873.43 to
"Stein for Congress®" over the life of the campaign. (Exhibit E,
page 2). However, Mr. Stein's 1984 City Disclosure Form (filed
July 2, 1985) indicates that he had only $107,077.00 in assets
that he owned exclusively. All of Mr. Stein's other assets are
owned jointly by he and his wife, Lynn Stein. (Exhibit C). Al-
though no interest income or bank accounts are listed on the 1984
City Disclosure form, Mr. Stein's 1983 Federal Income Tax Return
gives no indication that either interest or accounts would produce
$800,000.00 in income in 1984. (Exhibit A, page 7). The total
interest earned by the Steins in 1983 was $40,250.00 (Exhibit A,
Schedule B) of which $30,000.00 was received by Stein from a
$530,000.00 loan that he had made to "Stein 81" (Stein's Manhat-
tan Borough President Campaign Committee). (Exhibit B, page 4).
The source of those funds was a loan acquired by Stein from
Manufacturers Hanover Trust Company which Stein reports in his
City Disclosure Form for 198l. (Exhibit G, page 9).

In 1984, the Stein's income from interest, dividends
and capital gains was again severely limited. "Stein 81" finished
repayment of the outstanding loan and Andrew Stein received a
final interest payment of $27,077.00 (Exhibit C, page 4). Mr. &
Mrs. Stein also earned interest, dividends and capital gains in-
come between $26,004.00 and a possible $81,000.00. (Exhibit D,
page 1, after deducting their 1983 interest income). As such,
Mr. Stein was entitled to use only half of this income for his
Congressional Campaign. Obviously, use of his wife's half of
these monies would constitute a contribution by her in excess of
the statutory limitations previously set forth. (See page 2,
supra). Therefore, this income source provided Mr. Stein with
modest available assets between the amounts of $13,002.00 and




The Pederal Election Commission
August 12, 1985
Page Three

$40,500.00. The specific figure depends on where the actual
income amounts fall in terms of the ranges given on the Federal
Disclosure Porm. (Exhibit D, page 1).

Mr. Stein is further entitled to the use of 1/2 of the
monies acquired by both he and Mrs. Stein in loans. According to
Mr. Stein's 1984 City Disclosure Form, this amount prior to October
18, 1984, consisted of one outstanding loan between $25,000.00
and $100,000.00 issued to both Mr. & Mrs. Stein by Bank Leumi
Trust Company. (Exhibit C, page 9). This would give Mr. Stein
an additional $12,500-$50,000 in liquid assets. Moreover, Mr.
Stein lists a $100,000.00 loan from an R. Perelman on his 1984
Federal Disclosure Form (Exhibit D, page 2) but conspicuously
omits this information from his City Disclosure form of the same
year. These funds would not be available for use in Mr. Stein's
Congressional Campaign however, since they would fall into the
category of Contributions and would be limited to $1,000.00.

As for the availability of any monies earned in capital
gains, it is abundantly clear from Mr. & Mrs. Stein's 1983 Federal
Income Tax Return that after deducting their capital losses for
the year, the end result was a net loss. ($202,829.00 Short-term
capital gain minus $108,434.00 Short-term capital loss carryover,
minus, $147,157.00 Long-term capital loss, minus $8,322.00 Carry-
over = A net loss of $61,084.00). (Exhibit A, Schedule D, page 1
& 2). Furthermore, according to Mr. Stein's 1984 City Disclosure
form, he and Mrs. Stein accrued a maximum capital gain between
$6,000.00 and $30,000.00. (Exhibit C, page 5). Since these
assets were jointly owned, Mr. Stein may only use $3,000.00 to
$15,000.00 for his campaign.

The foregoing analysis of Stein's liquid assets reveals
the following: Prior to October 18, 1984, Andrew Stein lent
"Stein for Congress®™ $437,873.43 allegedly from personal funds.

(Exhibit F, page 2). However, the proceeding chart shows an
immediate discrepancy ranging from §$185,046.43 to $262,044.43.

Minimum Assets Available Maximum Assets Available

Salary: $ 80,000.00 $ 80,000.00
1983 Interest §$ 40,250.00 $ 40,250.00




The Federal Election Commission
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1984 Interest
from Stein '81
Income $ 27,077.00 $ 27,077.00

1984 Interest,
Rent & Capital $ 13,002.50 $ 40,500.00

1984 Gains

Income Loan

from Bank

Leumi Trust

Company $ 12,500.00 $ 50,000.00

1984 Actual
Capital Gains $ 3,000,00 $15,000,00
TOTAL: $175,829.00 $252,827.00

Amount of Stein's loan to "Stein for Congress" $437,873.43
minus Stein's mimimum available assets - 1725
equals : Discrepancy $262,044.43

Amount of Stein's loan to "Stein for Congress" $437,873.43
minus Stein's maximum available assets - 252,827.00
equals : Discrepancy $185,046.43

Since it is clear that Mr. Stein had expended all of
his assets, prior to October 17, 1984, two matters worthy of your
investigation come to light. The first of these concerns the
origin of the funds involved in the discrepancy outlined above.
The facts indicate that Mr. Stein must have used part of his
wife's portion of their liquid assets to meet this deficit or in
the alternative, Mr. Stein received significant unreported out-
side funds. Either of these actions constitutes a violation of
Section 441A in conjunction with Section 431(8)(A)(i) of Title 2
United States Code. (See, page 1, supra).

The second inquiry, and perhaps the more serious one,
involves transactions after October 17, 1984 including a $399,000
loan made by Stein to his Congressional Campaign organization.
(Exhibit E, page 14 & 15). Having established that Mr. Stein had
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already exhausted his 1iquid assets prior to that time, it is ap-
parent that the ensuing loans did pot come from Mr. Stein's
existing personal funds. Instead, on October 18, 1984, Mr. &
Mrs. Stein jointly received a loan from Manufacturers Hanover
Trust Company in an amount between $100,000.00 and $500,000.00.
(Exhibit C, page 9). Further evidence of the joint nature of
this loan can be found in a letter dated January 9, 1985, from
Manufacturers Hanover Trust Company and addressed to Mr. & Mrs.
Stein. (Exhibit H). Although that letter indicates the loan was
granted specifically for personal needs, the game day that the
loan was acquired, October 18, 1984, Andrew Stein lent "Stein for
Congress® $250,000.00. (Exhibit E, page 13). Two weeks later,
Andrew Stein m<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>